A. INTRODUCTION 

After years of confinement and minimal success in the treatment 

program operated by the Special Commitment Center (SCC), Curtis 

Brogi became involved in a Native American healing program at the 

SCC. This culturally attuned program taught Mr. Brogi, who is Native 

American, to make positive changes in his attitudes, values, and 

behavior in a manner that resonated with him unlike the SCC's 

treatment program. Based on the results of his six years of active 

participation in the Native Healing program and psychological testing, 

Dr. Richard Halon concluded Mr. Brogi's mental condition had 

changed. However, the court refused to credit Mr. Brogi's treatment 

success because it ruled that treatment progress must derive from the 

SCC's specific sex offender treatment program. The trial court 

misapplied the controlling statute and improperly disregarded the 

psychologically valid opinion presented by a qualified expert. 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. The court erroneously denied Mr. Brogi's request for an 

evidentiary trial on his continued involuntary confinement under RCW 

71.09.040(4) even though there was probable cause that he no longer 

met the criteria for commitment due to his treatment success. 



2. To the extent the court's finding of fact 6 is construed to 

mean Mr. Brogi has not engaged in treatment targeted at reducing his 

risk of reoffending while at the sec, it is not supported by substantial 

evidence. CP 6 (Finding of Fact attached as Appendix A). 

3. The court misconstrued the nature of the treatment required 

by RCW 71.09.090(4)(b). CP 6-7 (Conclusion of Law 3). 

4. The recent amendment to RCW 71.09.020 in HB 1059, 

redefining treatment, does not retroactively apply to a show cause 

hearing conducted one year before the statute was amended. 

5. HB 1059 violates Mr. Brogi's right to due process and equal 

protection of the law. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR. 

1. By statute, an individual committed under RCW ch. 71.09 

may obtain a trial regarding his release from on-going confinement if 

he offers evidence indicating there is probable cause to believe that due 

to his treatment participation, he would be safe to be at large. A 

qualified expert evaluated Mr. Brogi and concluded that his treatment 

participation, including dedicated work in a Native American healing 

program, led to a change in his mental condition so that he no longer 

presented a more likely than not risk of re-offense. Did the court 
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erroneously deny Mr. Brogi's request for an unconditional release trial 

when he presented evidence that his successful treatment participation 

makes it unlikely that he will commit a sexual offense in the future? 

2. An amendment to a statute is presumed to apply 

prospectively, not retroactively. After Mr. Brogi's show cause hearing, 

the legislature amended RCW ch. 71.09.020 to define "treatment" to 

mean only the SCC's conventional sex offender treatment program. The 

statute does not say it is intended to apply retroactively. Does this 

change in the law apply prospectively? 

3. If HB 1059 retroactively applies to the show cause hearing 

conducted one year before the statute was changed, does it deny Mr. 

Brogi his rights to equal protection and due process of law because it 

denies him the ability to use culturally competent mental health 

treatment as a basis for changing his mental condition? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

As the Commissioner's ruling granting discretionary review 

explained: 

Several years ago, the SCC established a Native 
American healing program. It is described as a 
rehabilitation program with psychological, emotional, 
and spiritual components and involves multiple phases of 
personal growth which require violent offenders to admit 
past violent behavior, confront the harm done, and learn 
positive strategies for emotional healing, personal 
responsibility, problem solving, and internal control. It is 
further described as a comprehensive, culturally 
compatible program that develops and maintains changes 
that are integrated into a person's life, making it more 
likely that lessons learned will be thoroughly internalized 
and permanent. 

Comm. Ruling at 3 (entered 4113/15). 

Curtis Brogi has been confined at the SCC since 1997, having 

been committed in 2000. CP 128, 133. For over six years, Mr. Brogi has 

been "actively participating in the Native American healing program." 

Comm. Ruling at 3; CP 152, 63, 66-67. Even the State's treatment 

providers found this program "appeared to be helping him." CP 251. He 

was committed to his "educational pursuits" which included obtaining a 

bachelor's degree, with high grades, specializing in addiction and 

trauma. CP 251-52, 254. He became a leader in the Native American 

healing program, which he was taking "very seriously." CP 251. He had 
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attempted the SCC' s formal sex offender group therapy program, but 

felt "degraded" in it and disliked its confrontational approach. CP 254. 

Dr. Halon explained that Native American healing is one of the 

sex offender treatment programs at sec with the "same overarching 

goal to assist offenders to significantly change" as other treatment 

programs, aiming to help committed people so they no longer suffer 

from a mental abnormality or personality disorder and greatly reduce 

their risk of re-offense. CP 146-47. Through the Native American 

healing program, Mr. Brogi has worked on resolving "deep seated 

trauma that had afflicted him and his family for generations" and has 

"achieve[ d] insight into his unconscious trauma" that led to his crimes 

and his poor decisions. CP 180. Native American healing teaches 

compassion, empathy, and union with all creatures, which ties the 

individual to the community, culturally and spiritually. CP 148. It is a 

"powerful therapeutic and learning base" in the context of sex offender 

treatment. CP 14 7. Mr. Brogi took part in the Medicine Wheel program, 

which involves confronting a person's life-development, and it enabled 

him to understand and accept his violent offense history. CP 149, 180. 

He has developed positive strategies for expressing anger and is 

evolving as a caring and nurturing person and his behavior has changed 
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as a result, according to Brad Mix, a tribal leader and spiritual advisor 

for the SCC' s healing program. CP 180-81. 

After clinically interviewing Mr. Brogi, conducting 

psychological tests, and reviewing his records, Dr. Hanlon concluded 

that Mr. Brogi benefitted from the treatment he received and no longer 

presented a danger of committing sexually violent offenses. CP 128, 

131, 140-41. He provided a detailed written evaluation explaining his 

conclusion. CP 128-52. 

The State's evaluator, Dr. Robert Saari, said he lacked the 

expertise to evaluate Mr. Brogi's mental change due to the Native 

American healing program. CP 254. He suggested Mr. Brogi find 

another mental health professional to conduct an evaluation. Id. He 

noted that the SCC's treatment team agreed Mr. Brogi's Native 

American healing participation was benefitting him and he had made 

"constructive life changes." CP 251, 254. But because Mr. Brogi had 

not worked with SCC therapists in their conventional program, Dr. 

Saari found no evidence his mental condition had remitted. CP 254-55. 

At the show cause hearing, the State argued that the treatment 

Mr. Brogi received through the Native American program was not the 
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type of treatment the legislature intended. RP 25. 1 The court agreed 

with the State and held that if treatment success was not caused by the 

SCC's mainstream sex offender treatment program, it was not a basis 

for a new trial. RP 34-35. Due to the parties' separate agreement that 

Mr. Brogi is entitled to a trial on whether there is an available less 

restrictive alternative, the court set a trial on that issue only. RP 35. 

E. ARGUMENT. 

Mr. Brogi is entitled to a hearing on the lawfulness of 
his continued confinement based on an expert's 
opinion of the significant positive change in his 
mental condition and reduction in his risk of 
reoffending from long-term participation in 
culturally competent and psychologically valid 
treatment. 

1. At the probable cause stage, the court may not disregard a 
qualified expert's opinion applying the statutory criteria 
based on established scientific methods. 

A court must order a trial on the legality of a person's on-going 

confinement if probable cause exists to believe that the person's 

condition has so changed that he no longer meets the ''the definition of 

a sexually violent predator." RCW 71.09.090(2)(c). RCW 

71. 09. 090( 4 )(b) directs a court to order a trial on the person's continued 

1 RP refers to the report of proceedings from the Show Cause Hearing on 
June 27, 2014. 
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confinement if there is probable cause based on "current evidence from 

a licensed professional" of "a change in the person's mental condition 

brought about through positive response to continuing participation in 

treatment," indicating that the person would be safe to be at large if 

unconditionally released from commitment.2 A person makes "the 

requisite prima facie showing" for a trial under RCW 71.09.090(4) 

when a qualified expert indicates that the confined person "no longer 

meets the definition of an SVP, and because he stated that this change 

was due to treatment." In re Det. of Ambers, 160 Wn.2d 543, 557-59, 

158 P.3d 1144 (2007). 

In Ambers, a psychological expert evaluated Mr. Ambers after 

he had been committed under RCW ch. 71.09. 160 Wn.2d at 546, 558. 

Based on the benefits Mr. Ambers received from his participation in 

treatment while in prison as well as reduced scores on actuarial tests 

and other dynamic factors, the expert believed that Mr. Ambers's 

condition had changed and he no longer met the criteria for 

2 Effective July 1, 2015, long after the hearing at issue, the legislature 
amended RCW 71.09.020 to define "treatment" as "the sex offender specific 
treatment program at the special commitment center .... " HB 1059. This 
statutory amendment does not apply to Mr. Brogi, as addressed infra, § 3. 
Statutory citations refer to the version in effect at the time of the show cause 
hearing. 
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confinement. Id. at 558. The Supreme Court held that this expert's 

opinion sufficiently met the criteria ofRCW 71.09.090(4), including its 

"treatment-based change" element, to entitle Mr. Ambers to an 

evidentiary hearing. 160 Wn.2d at 558. The court did not inquire into 

the nature of the treatment or consider what modalities it involved. Id. 

Instead, it relied on the qualified expert's opinion that treatment 

participation led to positive change. Id. 

To meet the threshold showing of probable cause, the court must 

take the evidence in the light most favored to the detained person. Id. at 

557 (citing State v. Petersen, 145 Wn.2d 789, 799, 42 P.3d 952 (2002)). 

"A court may not weigh the evidence in detennining whether probable 

cause exists." In re Det. of Elmore, 162 Wn.2d 27, 37, 168 P.3d 1285 

(2007); see In re Det. of McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d 369, 382, 275 P.3d 

1092 (2012) (at probable cause stage, "a court must assume the truth of 

the evidence presented; it may not weigh and measure asserted facts 

against potentially competing ones."). 

Dr. Halon was a qualified expert who evaluated Mr. Brogi' s 

current status. CP 128-59. He interviewed Mr. Brogi, reviewed lengthy 

records, and conducted tests assessing his mental status and risk of 

reoffending. CP 129-31, 139-40. He concluded that Mr. Brogi had 
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changed through sex offender treatment and no longer met the criteria 

for total confinement. CP 140-41. He explained the Native American 

healing program was a valid sex offender treatment program capable of 

causing permanent change in a person's behavior, attitudes, and values, 

as it had done for Mr. Brogi. CP 145-46, 148. This conclusion was 

based on his exercise of professional discretion and satisfies the prima 

facie burden set forth under RCW 71.09.090(4). 

The trial court denied Mr. Brogi an evidentiary hearing, 

notwithstanding Dr. Halon's opinion that Mr. Brogi's mental condition 

and risk of re-offense had changed through treatment, because it 

refused to credit the type of treatment he engaged in its reading under 

RCW 71.09.090(4). RP 34-35. It opined that "treatment" success must 

be the result of the formal and specific conventional sex off ender 

treatment program operated by the SCC. Id. Mr. Brogi was engaged in 

a culturally competent sex offender treatment program as Dr. Halon 

described in detail, operated in collaboration with the SCC. CP 146-49, 

180-83. The trial court was required to credit to Dr. Halon's 

professional, detailed opinion. 

Ambers demonstrates that a prison treatment program satisfies 

the treatment requirement of the statute, without inquiring into the 
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treatment method used, because the statute only mandates that a 

qualified expert asserts the beneficial change is due to treatment and 

that opinion is sufficient under the prima facie evidentiary standard for 

RCW 71.09.040(4). 160 Wn.2d at 558. Ambers also demonstrates the 

deference due to a qualified expert's opinion at the probable cause 

stage. Id. at 557-58. Moreover, the plain language of the statute in 

effect at the time of the hearing does not authorize the court to base its 

decision on its opinion that a certain type of treatment must occur. 

2. The controlling statute requiring probable cause based on 
treatment success that leads to positive change included 
treatment premised on culturally-based models. 

Courts must "assume the legislature means exactly what it says." 

State v. Delgado, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727-28, 63 P.3d 792 (2003). Courts 

"cannot add words or clauses to an unambiguous statute when the 

legislature has chosen not to include that language." Id. at 727. 

Using plain language, the legislature amended RCW 71.09.090 

in 2005, adding section (4)(b). Laws of2005, ch. 344, § 2. RCW 

71.09.090(4)(b) says that when probable cause rests on "current 

evidence from a licensed professional" of "a change in the person's 

mental condition brought about through positive response to continuing 

participation in treatment" indicating the person would be safe to be at 
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large if unconditionally released from commitment, the court must 

order a trial on the person's continued confinement. 

The statute did not curtail the type of treatment that could lead 

to a positive response in the person's mental condition. RCW 

71.09.090(4)(b) used the term "treatment" without limitation or 

qualification. The legislation was focused on prohibiting "advancing 

age or changes in other demographic factors" as the sole reason for 

showing a person has changed since commitment. Laws of2005, ch. 

334, § 1. 

"Absent ambiguity or a statutory definition, [a court] gives the 

words in a statute their common and ordinary meaning. To determine 

the plain meaning of an undefined term, we may look to the 

dictionary." HomeStreet, Inc. v. State, Department of Revenue, 166 

Wn.2d 444, 451-52, 210 P.3d 297 (2009) (quoting Garrison v. 

Washington State Nursing Bd., 87 Wn.2d 195, 196, 550 P.2d 7 (1976)). 

The dictionary definition of medical treatment is: "I. the 

management and care of a patient; see also CARE. 2. the combating of a 

disease or disorder; called also therapy." See http://medical

dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/treatment. The Merriam-Webster 

medical dictionary similarly defines treatment as "the action or manner 
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of treating a patient medically or surgically <treatment of 

tuberculosis>" and "an instance of treating <the cure required many 

treatments>." See http://www.merriam-webster.com/medical/treatment. 

Dictionaries show the common understanding of the term treatment 

broadly means acts relating to caring for a person. 

This common understanding does not mean a preordained and 

uniform course of therapy that need not be individualized to a given 

patient. It would be illogical to construe the word "treatment" as 

meaning only the particular mainstream treatment program designed 

and implemented by the sec, absent specific narrowing language in 

the statute. 

If the definition of treatment in RCW 71.09.040(4)(b) was 

ambiguous, the doctrine of lenity would control and the court must 

construe the statute in Mr. Brogi's favor. Jn re the Detention of 

Hawkins, 169 Wn.2d 796, 801, 238 P.3d 1175 (2010). Under this rule 

of statutory construction, the court must apply the ordinary meaning of 

treatment rather than a narrow definition contrived by the State. 

As further evidence of legislative intent, the legislature did not 

enact the State's request to adopt this narrow the definition of treatment 

in 2014. See SSB 5965 (2014) (proposing same amendment to RCW 

13 



71.09.020 as in 2015).3 The 2014 legislature did not pass this proposed 

statute.4 However, in 2015, the legislature enacted several changes to 

the annual review process, including the definition of treatment 

proposed by the prosecution. HB 1059 (2015). 

The recent adoption of a narrow definition of treatment, at the 

State's urging, demonstrates that the statute did not previously contain 

this narrow definition. By amending the statute, the legislature 

necessarily demonstrated that the prior statute did not contain the 

definition of treatment relied on by the trial court. See Delgado, 148 

Wn.2d at 729. Narrowing the definition of "treatment" to only a certain 

class of treatment to the exclusion of an array of other effective 

treatment processes means the former definition of treatment was not so 

narrow. See Vita Food Products, Inc. v. State, 91 Wn.2d 132, 134, 587 

P.2d 535 (1978) ("[E]very amendment is made to effect some material 

purpose"). 

The lower court's interpretation of the statute was unreasonable. 

The only qualifying characteristic of treatment in RCW 

3 Available at: http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2013-
14/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/House/5965-S%20HBA %20PS%2014.pdf (last viewed 
Aug. 25, 2015). 

4 See http://app.leg.wa.gov/billinfo/summary.aspx?bill=5965&year= 
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71.09.090(4)(b)(ii) is that it enables a person to change his mental 

condition when positively responding to it. Courts "do not have the 

power to read into a statute that which we may believe the legislature 

has omitted, be it an intentional or an inadvertent omission." State v. 

Martin, 94 Wn.2d 1, 8, 614 P.2d 164 (1980). "Appellate courts do not 

supply omitted language even when the legislature's omission is clearly 

inadvertent." In re Pers. Restraint of Acron, 122 Wn.App. 886, 891, 95 

P.3d 1272 (2004). The trial court was not free to construe the statute 

based on its speculation about the treatment the legislators might have 

envisioned when enacting the statute. Because Mr. Brogi offered 

competent evidence from a qualified expert that he had positively 

changed through a type of sex off ender treatment to the degree that he 

was safe to be unconfined, he is entitled to a new trial on the lawfulness 

of his continued confinement. CP 140-41, 145-46. 

3. The recent changes to the statutory definition of treatment do 
not retroactively apply to Mr. Brogi. 

It is a "well-settled and fundamental rule of statutory 

construction" that "all statutes are to be construed as having only a 

prospective operation, and not as operating retrospectively.'' In re 

2013 (last viewed Aug. 25, 2015). 
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Cascade Fixture Co., 8 Wn.2d 263, 271-72, 111P.2d991 (1941), 

quoting 59 C.J. 1159 § 692. The presumption that an amendment is 

prospective is "an essential thread in the mantle of protection that the 

law affords the individual citizen," and is "deeply rooted." State v. 

Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665, 672, 30 P.3d 1245 (2001) (superceded by 

statute) (internal citations omitted). 

To deviate from the presumptive prospective application of a 

statutory change, "the purpose and intention of the legislature to give 

[the statute] a retrospective effect [must] clearly, expressly, plainly, 

obviously, unequviocably, and unmistakably appear" in the statute. 

Cascade Fixture., 8 Wn.2d at 271-72. Doubt must be resolved in favor 

of prospective construction. Id. "[C]ourts disfavor retroactivity. '' Smith, 

144 Wn.2d at 673. The legislature "is presumed to know the law," 

which includes this long-standing rule of statutory construction 

disfavoring retroactivity. See State v. Torres, 151 Wn.App. 378, 384-

85, 212 P.3d 573 (2009). 

The legislature's realization that it inadvertently omitted a 

provision from a statute does not make a later amendment retroactive 

unless the amendment itself addresses its retroactive application. Jn re 

F. D. Processing, Inc., 119 Wn.2d 452, 460, 832 P .2d 1303 (1992). In 
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F.D. Processing, the legislature had enacted a law governing the 

delivery of "any agricultural product" to a processor. Id. at 456. The 

law's definition of "agricultural product" did not specifically include 

dairy products. Id. at 461. This omission was a mistake and the 

legislature later amended the definition of agricultural product to 

include dairy. Id. But the amendment did not "directly indicate any 

intent as to retroactivity." Id. Correcting an error is not the equivalent 

of specifically intending retroactive application of a statutory 

amendment. Id. Legislative intent to apply a statute retroactively "must

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