FILED October 29, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72290-5

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re Detention of Curtis Brogi,

ANSWER TO APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Joshua Studor Assistant Attorney General WSBA #47183 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430

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

V. ARGUMENT

- A. The Superior Court properly denied the unconditional release petition of a sexually violent predator who had not participated in sex offender specific treatment at the SCC.
 - 1. An SVP petitioning for unconditional release must show substantial change in his mental condition as the result of treatment.

In order for an SVP to be granted a trial on unconditional release, the trial court must find either the state failed to meet its probable cause burden at the show cause hearing or that the SVP has presented a prima facie case. *In re Det. of Petersen,* 145 Wn.2d 789, 798, 42 P.3d 952 (2002) (*Petersen II*). "We hold there are two possible statutory ways for a court to determine there is probable cause to proceed to an evidentiary hearing under former RCW 71.09.090(2): (1) by deficiency in the proof submitted by the State, or (2) by sufficiency of proof by the prisoner." (sic) *Id.* When petitioning for an unconditional release trial using his own evidence, an SVP must show a substantial change in his mental condition brought about through a positive response to ongoing treatment. RCW 71.09.090(2), (4). *State v. McCuistion,* 174 Wn.2d 369, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012).

McCuistion held that unconditional release trials could not be ordered where the evidence "failed to show a physiological change or treatment-induced change to his mental condition, as required by RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)." 174 Wn.2d at 382. The Court held that requiring

change as a prerequisite for an evidentiary hearing "does not offend substantive due process principles." *Id.* at 384. Substantive due process, the Court noted, "requires only that the State conduct periodic review of the patient's suitability for release." *Id.* at 385. *McCuistion* further held that amended RCW 71.09.090 did not violate procedural due process because "the procedure established by the legislature ensures that individuals who remain committed continue to meet the constitutional standard for commitment, namely dangerousness and mental abnormality" and thus is "unlikely to result in an erroneous deprivation of liberty." *Id.* at 394. The State, the Court noted, "has a substantial interest in encouraging treatment" and "by making treatment the only viable avenue to a release trial (absent a stroke, paralysis, or other physiological change)," the State creates an incentive for participation in treatment. *Id.*

2. The SVPA unambiguously requires a positive response to sex offender specific treatment in RCW 71.09.090.

As discussed above, the only method an SVP may use to challenge his indefinite commitment is to show a change in his physical or mental condition. RCW 71.09.090(4)(a). A change in mental condition must be brought about through a positive response to continuing treatment. RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(ii). Though RCW 71.09.090 itself did not include

the phrase "sex offender" when referring to treatment, the Legislature's intent to require such treatment was not ambiguous.³

When interpreting a statute, precedent instructs that the court is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent while construing the statute as whole and harmonizing statutes on the same subject matter with each other. *In re Det. of Boynton*, 152 Wn. App. 442, 452, 216 P.3d 1089 (2009) ("Each provision [of the statute] must be read in relation to the other provisions, and we construe the statute as a whole."); *US West Communications*, *Inc. v. Wash. Util. & Transp. Comm'n*, 134 Wn.2d 74, 118, 949 P.2d 1337 (1997) ("Statutes on the same subject matter must be read together to give each effect and to harmonize each with the other."). Furthermore, the court's "fundamental objective is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent." *State v. Gray*, 174 Wn.2d 920, 927, 280 P.3d 1110 (2012).

In reference to "treatment" in the context of RCW 71.09.090, the legislature was clear as to its intent. In fact, the 2005 amendments to the act included a stated purpose:

³ It is unclear as to whether Brogi agrees with this statement or not. Brogi argues that "[t]he only qualifying characteristic of treatment in RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(ii) is that it enables a person to change his mental condition when positively responding to it." Opening Brief at 14-15. Brogi also seems to agree that sex offender treatment is required: "Because Mr. Brogi offered competent evidence from a qualified expert that he had positively changed through a type of sex offender treatment to the degree that he was safe to be unconfined, he is entitled to a new trial on the lawfulness of his continued confinement." Opening Brief at 15 (emphasis added).

[T]he legislature finds that a new trial ordered under the circumstances set forth in *Young* at *Ward* subverts the statutory focus on treatment and reduces community safety by removing all incentive for successful treatment participation in favor of passive aging and distractive committed persons from *fully engaging in sex offender treatment*.

CP at 108 (emphasis added).

More broadly, the purpose of the SVPA is the incapacitation and treatment of dangerous sex offenders who cannot control their predatory sexual behavior. When it enacted the SVPA, the Legislature expressed its intent in the "Findings" section of the statute. RCW 71.09.010. The goal was to protect the community from "a small but extremely dangerous group of sexually violent predators" who "have personality disorders and/or mental abnormalities which are unamenable to existing mental illness treatment modalities." *Id.* The legislature recognized that "those conditions render them likely to engage in sexually violent behavior." *Id.* In drafting the law, the Legislature recognized that:

[T]he treatment needs of this population are very long term, and the treatment modalities for this population are very different than the traditional treatment modalities for people appropriate for commitment under the involuntary treatment act.

Id. From its initial enactment forward, it was clear that the focus of the act was to detain and treat dangerous sexual offenders.

In considering what "treatment" qualifies under the statute, the court should consider other statutes or parts of the statute on the same

subject matter. *US West Communications*, 134 Wn.2d at 118. For example, the definition section of the SVPA defines a "total confinement facility" like the SCC is "a secure facility that provides supervision and *sex offender treatment services* in a total confinement setting." RCW 71.09.020(19) (emphasis added).

Further, when an SVP has successfully progressed to the point that they are eligible for release to an LRA, the legislature required that they receive additional treatment only from "certified sex offender treatment providers or certified affiliate sex offender treatment providers under chapter 18.155 RCW" exceptions with not relevant RCW 71.09.350(1). If the conditional release is to the Secure Community Transition Facility (SCTF), the individual is placed in a facility that "either provides or ensures the provision of sex offender treatment services." RCW 71.09.020(16). It is simply nonsensical to conclude that the Legislature intended for sex offender treatment to not be required while the SVP was in total confinement, but is required after the SVP has changed enough that release to an LRA is appropriate.

The legislative requirement for participation in sex offender specific treatment is also found in the rules that the legislature authorized DSHS to promulgate. The legislature granted authority for DSHS to adopt rules regarding "requirements for treatment plans[.]" RCW 71.09.800.

Consequently, DSHS developed detailed rules requiring an ITP for each resident. The ITP must include a "description of the person's specific treatment needs in . . . Sex offender specific treatment[.]" Id. (WAC 388-880-040(3)(a)(i)) (emphasis added).

The legislature reiterated its intent when it passed H.B. 1059 in 2015: "Treatment' means the sex offender specific treatment program at the special commitment center or a specific course of sex offender treatment pursuant to RCW 71.09.092(1) and (2)." RCW 71.09.020(20). While H.B. 1059 was a subsequent enactment, it is internally consistent with the rest of the SVPA. It changes nothing substantively but merely provides clarity to an issue made less clear by the types of arguments put forward by Brogi. Brogi disingenuously argues the Legislature's 2014 failure to pass an earlier version of H.B. 1059 tends to show the legislature did not intend "treatment" to be limited to "sex offender treatment" while also arguing the Legislative success of H.B. 1059 one year later is somehow not indicative of the Legislature's original intent.

Brogi continually, and incorrectly, asserts that because "a prison treatment program satisfies the treatment requirement of the statute," Brogi's religious activities should pass the test. Opening Brief at 7-8, 10. In support, he cites to *In re Det. of Ambers.* 160 Wn.2d 543, 158 P.3d 1144 (2007). As Respondent has already pointed out in its Answer to the

Motion for Discretionary Review, Brogi's claim is both false and irrelevant. *See* MDR Answer at 15, FN 15. First, *Ambers* is irrelevant to the issue at hand. At issue there was the meaning of "safe to be at large" as the phrase is used in the SVPA, and the question of Ambers' treatment status was not before the court. *Ambers*, 160 Wn.2d at 547. The section cited by Brogi does not even serve as dicta to inform this court.

Second, Brogi fails to point to a single reference that shows Ambers even received treatment *in prison* in part because the reference does not exist. Nothing in the *Ambers* decision indicates he was in treatment in prison and, in fact, the decision only uses the word "prison" twice and only in contexts not related to treatment. To be generous, perhaps Brogi misinterprets the Court's use of the term "confinement" in the opening section of the opinion, which reads:

Kevin Ambers seeks review of a trial court order denying his petition for an unconditional release trial. In 1998, Ambers stipulated to commitment as a sexually violent predator (SVP). Ambers has been confined since then..., and during his confinement he has participated in treatment.

Id at 546. However, "confinement" in this section is not referring to DOC, but is actually pertaining to Ambers's commitment as an SVP. In fact, the court is fairly clear that Ambers was in treatment at the SCC – not prison. "Mr. Ambers' risk has been reduced since [he was committed] as a result

of having been involved in treatment for quite a number of years. *Id.* at 558-559.

Finally, any prison-based treatment would have been irrelevant in assessing any change in Ambers' mental condition because it occurred prior to his commitment. The statute is clear that change is measured "since the person's last commitment trial, or less restrictive alternative revocation proceeding..." RCW 71.09.090(4)(a). See also In re Det. of Marcum, ---Wn.App. ---, --- P.3d ---, 2015 WL 5933725 (2015) (SVP who refused treatment after revocation of an LRA is not entitled to a new trial because he cannot show treatment-based change since the revocation.) Since Ambers was committed as an SVP after serving his prison term and was subsequently released, temporarily, on an LRA, the only proper inquiry would be whether there was substantial treatment-based change since his last LRA revocation. Ambers, 160 Wn.2d at 546. The opinion does not hold, indeed it would have been impossible, that Ambers completed prison-based treatment following the revocation of his LRA.

Brogi's argument that "the only qualifying characteristic of treatment in RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(ii) is that it enables a person to change his mental condition when positively responding to it," is unreasonable. Opening Brief at 14-15. As noted, the purpose of the statute is to detain and treat individuals who suffer from conditions that make them likely to

engage in sexually violent behavior. Accepting Brogi's broad definition would allow an SVP to argue he has changed because he has started to exercise more, which has improved his self-image and depression. His interpretation could also cover treatment for dyslexia. Brogi's argument is untenable because the treatment required by the statute must have at least some rational relationship to the treatment of the mental condition, i.e. mental abnormality and/or personality disorder, that lead to his commitment as an SVP.

In fact, the State Appeals and Supreme courts have taken for granted that the legislature intended sex offender treatment. For example, in *In re Det. McGary*, Division 2 affirmed the trial court's denial of McGary's petition for an unconditional release trial based on his own petition noting that "McGary has refused to participate in *sex offender* treatment since at least 2007." 155 Wn. App. 771, 784, 231 P.3d 205 (2010). The Supreme Court considered a similar issue in *In re Meirhofer*,. In its decision, the Court used "sex offender treatment" and "treatment" interchangeably. *See generally*, 182 Wn.2d 632, 639, 343 P.3d 731 (2015). The Court noted that Meirhofer had "declined treatment" in the same paragraph as recognizing the legislature intended to incentivize "sex offender treatment." *Id.* It then affirmed the trial court's denial of

Meirhofer's petition because he had failed to participate in sex offender treatment. *Id.* at 646.

The superior court in this case correctly determined the legislature unambiguously required the individual's alleged change in his mental condition happened as a result of sex offender treatment.

- 3. If the court finds the term "treatment" to be ambiguous in this context, it should find H.B. 1059 acts retrospectively.
 - a. H.B. 1059 acted, in part, to clarify the intent of the statute in regard to requiring SVPs to show change through participation in treatment.

When a statute is curative or remedial the general rule that statutes are applied prospectively does not apply. Loeffelholz v. Univ. of Washington, 162 Wn. App. 360, 368, 253 P.3d 483, 487 (2011) aff'd in part, rev'd in part, 175 Wn. 2d 264, 285 P.3d 854 (2012). "An amendment is curative and remedial if it clarifies or technically corrects an ambiguous statute without changing prior case law constructions of the statute." State v. Markwart, 182 Wn. App. 335, 353, 329 P.3d 108, 117 (2014) (citing Barstad v. Stewart Title Guar. Co., 145 Wn.2d 528, 537, 39 P.3d 984 (2002); In re Pers. Restraint of Matteson, 142 Wn.2d 298, 308, 12 P.3d 585 (2000), review granted, 337 P.3d 327 (Wash. 2014). "A curative amendment clarifies or technically corrects an ambiguous statute." State v. Smith, 144 Wn.2d 665, 674, 30 P.3d 1245 (2001) (citing In re F.D.

Processing Inc., 119 Wn.2d 452, 461, 832 P.2d 1303 (1992)). "Thus, subsequent enactments that only clarify an earlier statute can be applied retrospectively." *Barstad* 145 Wn. 2d at 537 (internal citations omitted). While remedial statutes are exceptions to the general rule, "If a statute is remedial in nature and retroactive application would further its remedial purpose," it will be enforced retroactively. *Macumber v. Shafer*, 96 Wn.2d 568, 570, 637 P.2d 645 (1981).

Prior to the 2015 legislative session, the term "treatment" as it is used in RCW 71.09.090(4)(b)(ii) was undefined. However, in enacting H.B. 1059, the legislature defined a previously undefined term. According to the act, "Treatment' means the sex offender specific treatment program at the special commitment center or a specific course of sex offender treatment pursuant to RCW 71.09.092(1) and (2)." RCW 71.09.020(20); H.B. 1059. The additional definition of "treatment" clarifies and technically corrects the statute. The definition does not change any prior case law regarding the definition. As such, the added definition of "treatment" should be applied retrospectively.

Notably, Brogi relies on *In re Det. of Elmore*, for support that H.B. 1059 should not be applied retrospectively. His reliance is misplaced. In *Elmore* the Court found that the 2005 amendments to the SVP act were not retroactive as applied to Elmore but for reasons inapplicable in this

case. The procedural history of that case is relevant and peculiar. The Superior Court in *Elmore* ordered a new unconditional release trial based solely on the issue of Elmore's change in age. *In re Elmore*, 162 Wn.2d 27, 34, 168 P.3d 1285 (2007). During the appeal process of that order, the Legislature enacted its amendments that excluded change based on age alone as grounds for a new trial. *Id*. The act expressly stated its purpose was to override the court's existing decisions in *Young*⁴ and *Ward*. *Id*. The Court of Appeals found that the 2005 amendments were retroactive as applied to Elmore and ruled in favor of the State. *Id*.

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